

Working Group VII

Working document 37

## **Working group VII – "External Action"**

**Subject:**     **The comments by Mr Michel Barnier to the preliminary draft final report of Working Group VII on External Action (WD 021 - WG VII) and to the draft text on principles and objectives of EU external action (WD 007 - WG VII)**

Members of Working Group VII will find hereafter comments by Mr Michel Barnier, member of the European Commission and member of Praesidium of the Convention.



## COMMISSION EUROPÉENNE

Michel BARNIER  
Membre de la Commission

Bruxelles, le 18 novembre 2002  
D(2002)

Monsieur le Président,

Comme vous l'aviez demandé lors de notre réunion du 13 novembre, je vous prie de trouver mes propositions d'amendement au projet de rapport (en **gras**), accompagnées de commentaires explicatifs (en *italique*).

Certains paragraphes devront également être revus pour tenir compte de l'évolution des discussions sur les fonctions du Haut représentant et de Commissaire aux relations extérieures, autour d'un Secrétaire de l'Union qui pourrait exercer les deux missions (double hat).

Je vous prie de croire, Monsieur le Président, à l'assurance de ma meilleure considération.

Michel BARNIER

## **Draft final report of Working Group VII on EU External Action**

### **I. Introduction**

1. The Working Group on EU external action has carried out a systematic examination of the issues set out in its mandate (CONV 252/02). The discussions took place against the background of the results of the Convention's plenary debate on EU external action (11 and 12 July 2002) and the reflection paper on this issue presented by the Praesidium (CONV 161/02). The Working Group heard evidence from Chris Patten, member of the Commission responsible for external relations, Javier Solana, Secretary General of the Council and High Representative for CFSP, Pascal Lamy, member of the Commission responsible for commercial policy, Poul Nielson, member of the Commission responsible for development co-operation, and Pierre de Boissieu, deputy Secretary General of the Council.
2. The Group held [8] meetings, [one of which was held jointly with Working Group VIII on Defence on the issue of civil crisis management.] Members have submitted [a number of] written contributions in the form of working documents and the Secretariat has prepared [a number of] documents that were used as an input to the debate.
3. The broad range of issues examined by the Group can be brought under the following general headings:
  - common interests, objectives and principles
  - competences
  - coherence and efficiency of action, through structures, instruments and decision making procedures
  - international agreements
  - external representation and services
  - **Control** [*comment : as invited by the report of the Legal Personality working group (see paragraphs 44 and 45 and technical recommendations 8 and 9), this Working group should examine the possibility of extending the jurisdiction of the European Court of Justice in*

The present report outlines the results of the discussions in the Group and presents a number of recommendations for consideration by the Convention, some of which would require Treaty changes.

## **II. Preliminary remarks**

4. During the discussions, a number of general observations were brought forward by members of the Group. There was first of all a general acknowledgement that the Union had much to gain from acting collectively on the international stage. It was increasingly difficult for individual Member States to influence international developments when acting on their own. In addition, the process of European integration has led to more shared interests and values, the defence of which called for an integrated approach on the global stage.
5. Secondly, it was recognised that acting collectively on the global stage depended to a large extent on political will and solidarity among Member States. This was particularly true for foreign policy, which was considered a core issue to national sovereignty. It was acknowledged that the perception of international events sometimes clearly differed from one country to another and often led to different reactions, or intensity of reactions. The usefulness of mechanisms that foster convergence of views and a sense of solidarity was underlined in this respect.
6. Thirdly, it was underlined that external action covered a wide range of policy areas, that some areas were more subject to divergent national views than others, and that certain policy areas **or actions within certain international organisations** were more adapted to legal instruments and regulation than others [*comment : as discussed in the group, international organisations, especially those of an economic nature, tend to work more on a quasi-legislative basis*]. This required different arrangements and procedures in EU decision making and implementation. This was particularly true in relation to **military aspects of** crisis management and defence

issues. [*comment : as indicated by Commissioner Patten, the concept of “crisis management” is extremely wide, including for example conflict prevention*].

7. Fourthly, it was recognised that although there were considerable collective resources at the EU level, the national resources that Member States could use internationally - both financial and human - were far larger. It was therefore underlined that policy making at the European level should aim at mobilising the whole range of available resources in a coherent manner, and that it should function as a catalyst for the use of national resources to pursue shared EU objectives.
8. Fifthly, it was recalled that considerable progress had been achieved over the last years. It was important that when considering how the current system could be further improved, one should identify the elements of success and build upon the progress achieved so far.

### **III. Common interests, principles and objectives**

9. The Group exchanged views on how the EU could best identify common interests and set priorities for its action on the global stage. Several members pointed to the need to better define [in the Treaty] [in a solemn declaration] the underlying principles and general objectives of all areas of EU external action, in a manner that would be clear to the public and the EU's partners.
10. The Group examined a paper by the Secretariat, which contained a proposal for principles and objectives of EU external action on the basis of current Treaty language on different policy areas and recommendations presented by members of the Group. [The Group reached agreement on a text for principles and objectives of EU external action, as set out in Annex. In the discussion about the status of this text, different options were presented. ...]
11. In this context, members agreed that it would be useful to group in the new Treaty the relevant articles of the current Treaties, which constitute the legal bases of EU external action. [The Group welcomed the fact that this was foreseen in the draft outline Treaty.]

12. Once the overall principles and objectives were set, it would be easier for the EU to define common interests and agree upon a strategy to defend them **and for a Secretary of the Union to act efficiently and quickly within those parameters**. In this context, the role of the European Council in defining the principles and general guidelines was recalled. Members also underlined the importance of the Commission's annual strategic priorities document and the Council's annual debate on the EU's foreign policy, as well as the work of the European Parliament in this respect. **They also noted the decisions adopted by the European Council at Seville on the pluriannual programming of the Council activities, and the active role played by the Commission in that exercise.** *[comment : the pluriannual programming of the Council is, irrespective of the changes that might be introduced in the institutional architecture, essential to ensure an increased consistency in the priorities of the Union's external policy. The Commission intends to play an active role in this programming, as indicated in its 2003 Work Programme, therefore reinforcing the consistency of the external action but also the consistency between internal and external policies.]*
13. ~~The Group was of the opinion that common interests had to be defined collectively. Some members pointed to the role of the Commission as defender of the common interest and called for its role to be strengthened in this respect. The possibility of giving the HR more power in identifying common EU interests in foreign policy was mentioned as well. All agreed that it was important to establish an adequate mechanism that allowed, on the basis of general objectives, to identify specific objectives and interests, as well as strategies to defend them.~~ **this paragraph could be transferred in the institutional part, as the role of catalyst of common interest can be used to justify the creation of the Secretary of the Union**].

#### IV. Competences

14. The Group noted that the EC Treaty attributed explicit competences to the Community in external action, including for the conclusion of international agreements, and that the Court of Justice had recognised implicit external Community competences when the conclusion of international agreements were necessary for the implementation of internal policies. The Group saw merit in **simplifying and harmonising these rules to facilitate the action of the Union in a globalised world, in particular when dealing with the external dimension of internal policies and action.** Therefore, the Group recommended that the Union would be fully

**competent to conclude agreements dealing with issues falling under its internal competences, under the same decision-making mechanism as the one applied for internal legislative action (normally QMV).** *[comment : this clearer language corresponds to what has been said so far in the working group, and is the condition for a coherent approach in international affairs needed to increase the Union's credibility vis-à-vis its partners or international organisations, especially when dealing with the Union's internal policies. The disastrous results of mixity have been explained at length].*

15. With regard to Union competence in CFSP, the Treaty stipulated that Member States were bound by the Treaty to support the Union's CFSP actively and without reserve, to enhance and develop mutual political solidarity and to abstain from any action that runs against the interests of the Union or that undermines its efficiency on the international scene. Member States were thus bound to ensure that national policies conform with positions agreed at EU level. In addition, power of representation was conferred to the Presidency and the HR.
16. In CFSP and in **police and judicial cooperation in criminal matters (Title VI TEU)**, the Union has competence to conclude international agreements. *[comment: for JHA matters falling under Title IV of the EC Treaty, it is the Community and not the Union that has treaty-making power].*
17. Notwithstanding the varying delimitations of competences between the Union/Community and Member States and varying roles of actors (institutions and Member States) and decision making procedures in the different fields, it was essential to ensure and maximise the coherence and efficiency of the EU's external action.

## **V. Coherence and efficiency of action**

18. Members of the Group agreed that in order to maximise its influence on the global stage, the Union had to use all its instruments, political and economic alike, in a co-ordinated and mutually reinforcing manner. It was also underlined that a coherent approach in international affairs increased the Union's credibility vis-à-vis its partners. It was pointed out that the Union had a vast variety of instruments and tools at its disposal: e.g. programmes for technical and economic co-operation with third countries, funds for humanitarian assistance, funds for development co-operation programmes, arrangements to agree upon and undertake joint

diplomatic action, actions by the Presidency and the HR, dispositions to conclude different types of bilateral and multilateral agreements, different possibilities for action in international organisations and multilateral fora, and it has recently started to establish a crisis management capacity, including the possibility to deploy personnel on the ground. In addition, many of the Union's internal policies and action such as migration and visa policy have an impact on its relations with the wider world.

19. Notwithstanding the progress achieved over the past years, members of the Group were of the opinion that current arrangements in the European architecture could be improved further to allow a more co-ordinated use of the different instruments. Several options were put forward in the course of the discussions. The proposed changes related to structures within institutions, relations between institutions and actors, as well as instruments and decision making.

**a) Structures within and between institutions**

20. *[Several members underlined the importance of establishing structures within the European Parliament, the Council and the Commission, that facilitated and encouraged a co-ordinated approach in the preparation, consideration and implementation of EU external action.*
21. *In this respect, a number of members underlined the importance of having in the Commission one focal point that oversees all external issues within the services of the Commission, where different DGs were dealing with external action and where internal policies could have an external dimension. Some suggested that this task could possibly be entrusted to a Vice President of the Commission.*
22. *A number of members pointed to the need of effective co-ordination at the national level, to ensure a more coherent approach by Member States in the work of the Council and the comitology.*
23. *With regard to the functioning of the Council, the Group welcomed the decision by the Seville Council to create a General Affairs and External Relations Council formation responsible for issues related to EU external action. Some suggested to go further and to formally separate the external relations dimension from the general affairs dimension in two separate Council formations, which did not exclude that Member States could be represented by the same Minister].*



***[comment : most if not all those elements do not require treaty change but a decision of the institution concerned about its internal organisation. In the interest of keeping the report concise, it is suggested to focus the report on those elements requiring directly or indirectly treaty change.].***

24. Members were of the opinion that an increased role of the HR would help to converge views in the Council and lead to more efficiency and coherence in CFSP. There was a general acknowledgement by the Group that the creation of the post of HR had greatly boosted the CFSP and helped to define and pursue a more pro-active and efficient foreign policy. On the basis of this positive experience, a large majority of members proposed a certain number of measures that would further strengthen the HR's role and status, including:

- the formal recognition of the right of proposal of the HR (alongside the right of proposal by the Presidency, Member States and the Commission);
- chairing of the external action Council by the HR;
- changing his title, possibly into "Minister of Foreign Affairs" of the EU;
- granting the HR adequate means to implement his/her tasks (see also below);
- to split the functions of HR from those of SG of the Council, to allow him/her to concentrate on his/her CFSP tasks.

***[comment : this paragraph needs to be integrated - and if need be amended – in the option chosen in the revised draft report].***

25. With respect to issue of relations between institutions and actors, the discussion focussed on the roles of the HR for CFSP and the Commissioner responsible for external relations. Members felt that more needed to be done to ensure coherence between foreign policy decisions and the deployment of instruments in the field of external relations. Different options were presented.

26. One option recommended practical measures to enhance the synergy between the functions of the HR and the role of the Commission in external relations, while keeping their functions separate. There was broad support for a number of practical proposals, which were also advocated by Chris Patten and Javier Solana, including: participation by the HR in all meetings

of the Commission concerning external action, more joint work by the HR and the RELEX Commissioner, including the preparation of joint initiatives to be submitted to the Council (see also below), and enhanced co-operation between their services (notably in the framework of policy analysis, joint reporting etc.), including possible merger of services in certain areas.

27. A second option recommended the full merger of the functions of the HR and RELEX Commissioner into the Commission, **using specific arrangements and a timetable to be defined.**
28. A third option recommended the exercise of both offices by one "double hatted" person. With regard to this option, some members considered that this "double hatted" person with the combined functions of HR and RELEX Commissioner, would be appointed by the European Council [after consultation of the President of the Commission and approval by the European Parliament]. He/she would be a full member of the Commission, but at the same time ~~receive a mandate and~~ remain accountable to, **and work under the guidance of,** the Council for issues relating to CFSP. *[comment : the term "mandate" is used in the Treaty for Special Representatives and has a specific legal meaning; it is suggested not to use that term of art so as to ensure the necessary flexibility of action].* This person could be given the title of "EU Minister of Foreign Affairs" or "EU Foreign Secretary".
29. Proponents of "double hatting" recognised that for decisions and actions in CFSP a close link was required with Member States through the Council and/or the European Council. Those who were not in favour of "double hatting" believed that it was not compatible with the principle of collegiality and that the job could not be done by one person. Others, however, considered that **appropriate arrangements had been identified to address concerns on collegiality and that** the scope of responsibilities could be dealt with by appointing to the "double hatted" person a number of deputies / assistants or Special Representatives with specific geographic/thematic responsibilities, nominated by the Council, as well as by having a burdensharing among members of the Commission of tasks relating to external action.
30. ~~Certain members of the Group considered that there was a link between a possible reform of the functions of the HR and the RELEX Commissioner and the organisation of the Presidency of~~

~~the European Council. The Group noted however that the wider institutional questions would be discussed by the Plenary.~~ ***[comment : this paragraph can be merged with § 49]***

31. Notwithstanding the different views on the possible merger of both functions, members agreed that duplication of services should be avoided ~~[and that increased co-operation and co-ordination would have a positive effect on the coherence of EU external action]~~. ***[comment : it is suggested to focus on the objective of non-duplication, as ways to reach that objective are addressed elsewhere]***.

#### **b) Instruments and decision making**

32. In addition to structural changes within and between institutions, members felt that more coherence could be achieved through the application of instruments that covered different fields of action. As to the efficiency of action, the Group examined decision making procedures in CFSP and in community policy areas.
33. It was noted that the instrument of "common strategies", which was introduced by the Amsterdam Treaty and aimed at covering Community policy and CFSP, had not been used very often in practice and that the way they had been drafted had not led to the desired effect. Several members were disappointed that the possibility of more QMV, which had been introduced by the creation of common strategies, had not been used in practice.
34. *[The Group discussed the possibility of introducing a new instrument of EU external action in the form of joint proposals by the HR and the [Commission] [RELEX Commissioner], which would present an integrated approach of foreign policy considerations and concrete supporting measures. These proposals could concern the EU's relations with a particular country or region, or have a more thematic approach. The joint proposal would be submitted for adoption by the Council and implemented by the different institutions/actors in the field of competencies attributed to them.]* ***[comment : it is suggested to delete that paragraph, as this proposal is no longer relevant with a Double Hat approach]***.
35. All members agreed that it was important for the EU to have a dynamic foreign policy that was capable of responding promptly to international developments. The need to be able to respond in 'real time' was underlined in this respect.

36. For a number of members the capacity to act on an issue of foreign policy was determined by the existence of political will and convergence of views among Member States. Other members pointed out that the current need for unanimity restricted the Union's capacity to act and that it resulted in a policy dictated by the least ambitious position. They feared that in an enlarged Union the risk of 'CFSP inertia' would increase if the requirement of unanimity were maintained. To overcome this problem, many advocated extending the use of QMV in CFSP. Some advocated introducing QMV as a general rule, and considered that the mere existence of decision making by QMV would trigger more consensus within the Council. Other members, however, expressed the opinion that foreign policy issues were not adapted to decision making by voting since it would be difficult for a country to find itself in a minority position on an issue in which precisely its national interests were at stake.
37. In spite of these different positions, the Group in general was favourable to [examine] a partial extension of QMV in CFSP and/or a better use of QMV in the framework of common strategies and decisions, **with the exceptions of decisions in the military/defence area.**
38. The Group saw a possible extension of the use of QMV by the Council when it was presented with ~~joint~~ initiatives by the **Secretary of the Union**, which would cover foreign policy and external relations issues (see above). There was a common understanding that initiatives proposed by **the Secretary of the Union** would reflect a maximum degree of support by individual Member States.
39. Other options aimed at reducing the negative effects of the general rule of unanimity were raised as well. These included more use of "constructive abstention" ~~and forms of closer co-operation between a limited number of Member States.~~ [The Group agreed that increasing the threshold for constructive abstention [from the current one third of weighted votes to 50%] would have a positive effect on efficiency of decision making in CFSP]. **The Group further noted the relevance of closer co-operation between a limited number of Member States.**
40. With respect to efficiency in community policy areas, members of the Group agreed that the use of QMV should be extended to as many areas as possible. The Group took note of the comment made by Commissioner Lamy that in spite of the fact that commercial trade policy was an exclusive competence of the EC/EU, not all areas of trade were subject to decision making by

QMV. This oddity was considered an impediment to the Union's efficiency in multilateral and bilateral trade negotiations. **The Group therefore recommended full application of QMV in trade matters and more generally in the external aspects of the internal policies, also subject to QMV for internal action. The Group further noted the need to involve the European Parliament in trade matters.**

41. To improve the efficiency and coherence of development co-operation policy, which was a complementary competence to that of the Member States, it was underlined that decision making at EU level should engage more the use of aid at national level. The EC/EU funds represented a considerable proportion of total global aid (10 %), but the sum of the Members States' national budgets represented an even larger percentage (50 %). The current arrangements and delimitation of competencies often led to the situation that the EU was a sixteenth donor in addition to the donor programmes of EU Member States. This undermined the efficiency of overall EU aid (financed from the EU budget and on a national basis) and enhanced the risk of overlapping actions. The Group took note of the comment by Commissioner Nielson that in order for the EU to be more efficient in development policy, policy making at the EU level should [to a greater extent engage] [commit] the Member States in what they did at the national level. It was further suggested by the Group that the EDF be integrated into the Community budget and thus be subject to the same procedures as other areas of Community financial assistance.

**The Group further noted the specific characteristics of humanitarian aid, subject to the principle of independence and impartiality, not only because of international obligations (Oslo Convention) but also to make sure that the aid is delivered effectively and without additional risks for the life of the providers.**

**c) Financing CFSP**

42. The Group agreed that efficiency in CFSP was closely linked to the issue of adequate resources, both in term of volume and procedures. The current CFSP budget had proved to be insufficient to implement actions that were deemed necessary in support of the EU's foreign policy and that current procedures were too heavy to allow a prompt financing of activities. There was strong support in the Group to change the current system and to make it more compatible with the EU's needs. The example of financing Special Representatives was mentioned in particular, and it

was underlined that appropriate funding for these should be made available from the Community budget, **possibly with faster procedures.**

43. The Group felt that the HR should have more say in how the CFSP budget was used, that he should be allowed to propose initiatives, and that he should have a certain degree of autonomy in financing certain activities considered necessary for the implementation of his mandate. ~~[In particular, the Group noted the need to establish an effective start-up fund, which would allow the HR to finance on an urgent basis the preparatory steps of crisis management operations.] [The Group took note of current procedures in humanitarian aid, where a certain degree of power of decision was conferred to the Director of ECHO/the Commissioner].~~ *[comment : the discussion on the start-up fund is already before the Council and does not require a Treaty change, it is therefore suggested to delete it from the report to keep it focused]*. The Group further agreed that the budget management activities should remain with the Commission services and that any duplication should be avoided. **The Group further noted that several instruments already exist allowing for rapid response in crisis situations and that the Commission proposed other mechanism through which funds can be mobilised extremely fast in emergency situations.**

## **VI. International agreements**

44. The Group noted the importance of the work of WG III on legal personality and its relevance for the issue of external representation. It examined the relevant sections of its final report and recalled the support of the Convention to the recommendation to confer an explicit single legal personality to the European Union. It was furthermore noted that in a possibly regrouped section on EU external action in the Treaty (see paragraph 11), it would be useful to have a provision on the negotiation and conclusion of international agreements that would indicate who would represent the Union in this respect. Such a provision could, as recommended by WG III, indicate that the Council authorises the opening of negotiations, issues the negotiating directives, and concludes the agreements. Consolidation into a single article would not necessarily involve changes to the specific arrangements of the procedures according to the subject covered by the agreement. [Regarding the conduct of the negotiation, the current Article 300 TEC would apply if the agreement under consideration fell solely within the Community domain; and Articles 24/38 TEU would apply if the agreement came solely under Title V or Title VI. Where the scope of an agreement would fall within both the community domain and under Titles V and/or VI TUE ("cross-pillar mixity"), the Group noted that one

could resort either to the conclusion of two different agreements or to the conclusion of a single agreement. In this last case, the Council, when authorising the opening of negotiations, would indicate **on the basis of the main subject-matter of the agreement the appropriate legal basis and the applicable procedure, and therefore the applicable decision-making rules** **and** whether negotiations would be conducted by the Presidency of the Council (or the HR) and the Commission together or by the Commission alone under the supervision of a committee.] *[comment : as long as the procedures are not completely harmonised (for example, Council decision at QMV in 1<sup>st</sup> pillar or unanimity in 2<sup>nd</sup> pillar), it is essential that the choice of the Council be guided by objective criteria, reviewable by the Court of Justice and maintaining the current balance between the Community method and the intergovernmental method. The criteria of the main subject-matter of an agreement is commonly used in cases involving Community competences and Member States competences, and can therefore easily and logically be used in case of cross-pillar mixity]* ~~The Group furthermore supported the view advanced by WG III that if a decision were taken to merge the functions of the HR and the RELEX Commissioner, this person would play a role in the opening and conduct of negotiations.~~ *[comment : the Secretary of the Union option makes this sentence irrelevant].*

## VII. Services and External representation

45. The Group agreed that it was essential for the HR to have sufficient staff at his/her disposal in Brussels, and underlined the importance of including in his/her staff members of the national diplomatic services seconded on a temporary basis, with a view to enhancing synergy with Member States and further strengthening of the policy analysis capacity. It was suggested to reinforce the Policy Planning and Early Warning Unit (PU), which constituted of seconded diplomats and officials of the Commission and the Council Secretariat. Some proposed that the role of the Political and Security Committee in providing the HR with political guidance should be reinforced.
46. The Group was of the opinion that the current arrangements in external representation of the EU lacked clarity and some considered that a single representation, at least in certain areas, would improve the Union's capacity to act effectively and convincingly on the global stage. Others believed that diversity in representation was unavoidable, given the different fields of action and differences in delimitation of competences between the Union and its Member States, and that instead of introducing single representation, the Union should aim at delivering a single message, even if this had to be done through different actors.

47. Members welcomed the clarity and efficiency of EU representation by the Commission in the field of commercial policy. They considered that in other policy areas where Member States had agreed that competences would be exercised at the supranational level, representation in international fora should be in conformity with internal arrangements. Possible single representation of the Eurozone in IFI's was mentioned in this respect. *[comment : single representation of the Eurozone is essential, not only because it is the external aspect of an internal policy (see §14), but also because it is a key element of the consistency of the Union's external policy; indeed, several speakers have noted the close link with the Union's trade and sustainable development policies, dramatically illustrated by the recent Argentinean crisis where the Union has - and is still - unable to influence the IMF's decisions despite the fact that its combined shareholding is larger than the US]*. [Members considered that this task should be entrusted to ~~the ECB / the Presidency / the Commission~~]. [The Group agreed that it would be desirable that international organisations (or their bodies) admitted full membership the EU, thus recognising its contribution to global governance.
48. When considering external representation in foreign policy, members felt that current arrangements could be improved with a view to enhancing clarity and continuity. The situation was particularly unsatisfactory with respect to bilateral relations, including political dialogue meetings, where [too] many spoke on behalf of the EU (Presidency, the HR, the Troika, the Commission, Member States). It was pointed out that in diplomacy a lot depended on trust and personal relationships. The Group considered in this respect that the **Secretary of the Union should play that** role of **representation** ~~the HR, or the person who would occupy this function, in representing the Union with international partners should be enhanced. They considered that granting him more responsibility in representation would~~ **to** improve the visibility, clarity and continuity of the Union on the global stage.
49. Some considered that representation at the highest political level (heads of State or Government) should be the responsibility of a permanent President of the European Council. The Group considered that the wider institutional questions should be discussed in the Plenary, but took note of the link between the issue of the external representation of the EU and the question of the Presidency of the European Council.
- [Comment : it should be noted that this has been rejected by the majority of the working group]*.



50. With respect to overseas representation, a number of members advocated the creation of an EU diplomatic service and an EU diplomatic academy. A majority proposed that the current Commission delegations should be turned into EU delegations or EU Embassies, which would **continue to be managed by the Commission and** also be working formally under the authority of the **Secretary of the Union** for issues concerning CFSP. These EU Embassies could also be tasked with servicing Member States that were not represented in a particular country. It was also pointed out that diplomatic representations of Member States should be encouraged to provide support and information to the **Secretary of the Union**.

#### **VIII. Recommendations**

The Group agreed to the following recommendations:

---

## Principles and Objectives of EU External Action

1. The Union's action on the international stage will be guided by, and designed to advance in the wider world, the ~~very values which have inspired its own creation, development and enlargement~~ **of** democracy, the rule of law, the universality and indivisibility of human rights and fundamental freedoms, solidarity, respect for the independence of sovereign states **and the promotion of sustainable development**, ~~freedom of opinion and opportunity, freedom from famine and fear~~. The Union will seek ~~to develop relations and build partnerships with all countries, and regional or global organisations, who share its values~~; will seek multilateral solutions to common problems; ~~will fully respect all international obligations~~; and will act in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations.
2. The European Union will define and pursue common policies and Union actions, and will work for a maximum degree of co-operation in other international fields, in order to:
  - a) ~~To~~ safeguard the interests, independence and integrity of the Union ;
  - b) ~~To~~ consolidate and support democracy, the rule of law, international justice and human rights ;
  - c) ~~To~~ encourage the integration of all countries into the world economy, ~~including through the abolition of restrictions on international trade~~ ;
  - d) ~~To~~ foster the economic and social development of developing countries, and to reduce poverty in the world, in particular in the least developed countries ; **and develop international measures to preserve the environment and global natural resources, and ensure sustainable development**,
  - e) ~~To~~ assist communities, **populations in** countries or regions confronting man-made or natural disaster ;
  - f) ~~To~~ preserve peace, and strengthen international security, in conformity with the principles of the United Nations Charter.

**The European Union and the Member States will co-operate to the closest possible extent to attain those objectives.**
3. **In exercising its competences, the Union shall ensure the consistency in its actions, both internal and external.**